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Item 2: Ten Grant Writing FAQs
1. Where can I find sample grant proposals?  There are sample proposals at the Foundation Center’s Grantspace site:  http://grantspace.org/skills/proposal-writing.  Grant writing books usually have a few examples as well.  The Foundation Center’s Guide to Proposal Writing is an excellent resource, including not only writing samples but comments directly from foundation personnel on how they like to be approached, what they look for in proposals, and answers to many other questions you’ve always wanted to ask.

2. What were those websites you mentioned?  In addition to these, be sure to check funder sites fro reports they may have generated on topics dear to them.  Many are very useful, and you will look extra smart if you can relate their findings to your work.
www.benevon.com/online-video Interesting approach to fundraising – 17-min video.

www.blueavocado.org/ You are not alone!  Sign up for the free newsletter.  Great out-of-the-box articles on grassroots fundraising, board development, etc. It will make you feel like you’re part of a community.  

www.boardsource.org
 The source for everything you’ve always wanted to know about how a board should work.  Membership is expensive, but the free FAQs library is full of great info.
http://www.cof.org/community-foundation-locator  Community foundation locator. Find one near you.

http://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-access-research-atlas/go-to-the-atlas.aspx Interactive map for food access. Find out if you are in a food desert.
www.tonyproscio.com/#Jargon?id=Jargon%20Essays Witty essays on jargon, and jargon finder. Click on In Other Words, Bad Words for Good, and When Words Fail.
factfinder2.census.gov/faces/nav/jsf/pages/index.xhtml Census data

www.thegrantadvantage.net/Resources.html: Has a good list of direct links to federal agency grant sites
https://www.grantgopher.com/ Inexpensive grants database online with some freebies
www.grants.gov
Easy-to-use search tool for federal government RFPs (that’s Requests For Proposals) and NOFAs (Notice of Funding Availability)

www.grantstation.com Great source for grassroots grants

www.grantwatch.com Inexpensive database online with no freebies – can’t vouch for it
www.grassrootsfundraising.org  Grassroots Institute for Fundraising Training.  GIFT has great conferences, workshops, and an inexpensive fundraising journal with lots of good ideas.
www.greatschools.org Get the stats on schools in your area.

www.guidestar.org  
Guidestar for foundation tax forms (990s)

http://foundationcenter.org
Foundation Center:  To subscribe to a database online: http://fconline.fdncenter.org/; 
For current RFPs: http://fdncenter.org/pnd/rfp/


http://grantspace.org/Find-Us Find the nearest free database.
Free search online – but very limited: https://fdo.foundationcenter.org/

www.grantcraft.org
What do they think about? Download free brochures, case studies, etc. from the grant maker’s perspective

www.grantprofessionals.org  The national association for grant writers
https://philanthropy.com/interactives/how-america-gives#search Fascinating interactive map that enables you do analyze individual giving in your zip code or county. 

www.independentsector.org/volunteer_time   Independent Sector, for value of volunteer time.

www.innonet.org
Free evaluation tools and self-evaluation forms. Click on Tools and Resources.
www.k12grants.org/grant_opps.htm  Was once a great resource for K-12 schools. Now out of date, but may still be useful.
www.k-12schoolgrants.com Also some good teacher/school opportunities
www.measureofamerica.org/. Measure of America Human Development reports. Sobering but useful data on the growing divide between rich and poor –you’re not just imagining things. 

www.philanthropy.com  Chronicle of Philanthropy.  Bi-weekly newspaper of philanthropy sector.
http://www.snpo.org/publications/fundingalert_bycategory.php?cs=REGI  Society for Nonprofits. Some free grant opps.
A few sites for trail funding:


http://www.nps.gov/orgs/rtca/index.htm
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/transportation_enhancements/
http://www.rd.usda.gov/programs-services/rural-business-development-grants (think tourism and recreation)

http://www.rd.usda.gov/programs-services/community-facilities-direct-loan-grant-program
http://www.neefusa.org/grants/index.htm
http://www.norcrosswildlife.org/grants-loans/grants/grant-guidelines/
State Land & Water Conservation Fund contacts: http://www.nps.gov/ncrc/programs/lwcf/contact_list.html
State tourism websites, state trails and recreation websites, state sites for environmental quality

3. What’s an LOI?  LOI stands for Letter of Inquiry or Letter of Intent.  It is a 1-3-page letter sent to introduce your project/organization to a prospective funder.  It is NOT a proposal.  Many funders have guidelines for LOIs, so check before you start writing.  If there are no guidelines, an LOI should include:  the ask, mention of any interaction with foundation to this point, total project budget, brief organizational history and mission (establish credibility), statement of need, project description, mention of any other funds secured or sought, why you selected this funder, conclusion (repeat ask, thanks for consideration, provide contact info).  Enclose your brochure and a copy of your 501(c)3.  Responses to LOIs can be: a) an invitation to submit a full proposal; b) check arrives in mail; c) not interested.

4. What do we do if we get rejected?  If 30% of your proposals are getting funded, you are doing a fabulous job.  However, if you follow that concept to its logical conclusion, you are getting rejected 70% of the time, so hang in there and don’t get discouraged.  If possible, call the funder and find out if a resubmission is appropriate, either for the same project or something else.  Government funders can usually give you direct feedback on what the panelists thought about your proposal; private and corporate foundations may be more circumspect.  While you may wish to resubmit the same project, never resubmit the same proposal.  If nothing else, your proposal is educating the prospective funder about your organization and its progress, which may eventually yield results.  

5. What if we are over-funded?  Do we have to return the money?  Occasionally, your organization may have the good fortune to be over-funded for a project.  In this case, take a moment to consider how you might grow your program or even apply funding to a similar venture.  Then call your funders and explain the situation.  Be prepared for a discussion and have several options in mind.  If the funder is a government agency, you may have to return the funds.  However, a private foundation will rarely ask you to return the funding.  Your funders have invested in your organization after careful consideration and they will want to work with you toward your goals.  Besides, returning the money is usually an accounting nightmare for all involved!

6. Many funders won’t fund overhead.  What does that mean?  Overhead, referred to as “indirect costs,” usually refers to your rent, maintenance, equipment, and utilities.  The federal government will often cover overhead and may even negotiate a standard rate with you.  If nothing is said one way or the other, you are usually safe including 10-15% of your project costs as overhead at the end of your budget.  So, if your project budget is $10,000, you could add between $1000 and $1500, bringing your total project budget to $11,000 or $11,500.

In a project budget, you can usually include percentages of your staff’s salaries (Example:  Executive Director (10% of $60,000 annual salary) = $6000) and even employee benefits pro-rated to time spent on the project.  You may also include a portion of phone, fax, and postage, as long as they can be traced directly to project requirements.  If you must purchase equipment for the project, check in with your prospective funder for clarification.  For example, some funders will underwrite equipment as long as it is no more than a certain percentage of the total project budget.  Others may underwrite software but not computers, etc.
7.  Our program didn’t turn out like we thought it would and now we’re afraid to file our report.  Understandably so.  If your program was running into obstacles of any kind, you should have alerted your funder immediately.  It is rare that programs run exactly as expected…and most funders know that.  If you make significant changes, for better or for worse, let the funder know immediately.  If your event was rained out, or nobody signed up for your workshop, or you decided to work with a different consultant than the one you profiled in your proposal, call your program officer and explain.  Usually something can be worked out.  In your report, write honestly about the program, its unexpected challenges and successes, and what you would do differently next time.  Never neglect to file a final report…even if one has not been requested.  Not only will you be ineligible for renewal, but you’d be surprised how word gets around.

8. What are the most common mistakes made in proposals?  Everyone will have a slightly different perspective on this question.  In my experience, most common mistakes include:

· Difficult-to-read submission.  Using tiny typeface or a font that even in 12 point is microscopic, shrinking the margins or the space between lines are great ways to annoy your reader before he or she has even read one word.  Use headings, bullets, quotes separated from the main text to help move the eye along.  Also, do not use sans serif typefaces like Helvetica and Arial.  They are harder to read.  Have someone proofread from outside your organization, not just for grammar but for clarity as well.

· Stapling, fancy binders, decorative illustrations.  Most of your submission either needs to fit in a file cabinet or will be copied shortly, so don’t bother with the binders…and use paper clips or bulldog clips…No staples.

· Unsubstantiated claims.  Validate your glowing adjectives with factual material.  Innovative?  Who says?  What makes it innovative?  Unique?  Why?  Imaginative?  Well-known?  Oh yeah?  According to whom?  What evidence do you have that your program is innovative, unique, imaginative, and well-known?  Or did your mother just say it was!  Remember that everyone else is using the exact same words you are.  These words become platitudes if you don’t redefine them in terms of your organization.  Use quotes from your users or experts in your field, concrete examples.  Footnote if necessary.  

· Weak evaluation and demographics sections.  Each of these areas is worthy of a three-hour workshop.  If you say you have a diverse membership, back it up.  How old are your participants?  What is their income level?  Where do they live?  Are they men or women?  What is their ethnicity?  And so on…  Regarding evaluation, include both quantitative and qualitative measures, if possible (if not, explain why not).  Relate them to your program goals and objectives.  Tell how you will gather this information.  Include a sample evaluation form.  Explain how your organization has used past evaluation results to grow and make changes.  List three questions you hope to answer by running your program.  And so on…

· Hidden or forgotten ask.  State the amount you are requesting clearly in your cover letter, Executive Summary (if requested), first paragraph and last paragraph of your proposal.  

· Vague program budget without notes.  The budget is often the first thing a program officer looks at.  Explain your figures.  In other words, rather than Refreshments: $600, how about Refreshments (100 guests @ $6): $600 (and if this could provoke any question, explain in a note what the refreshments consist of and who will be providing them).  Include revenue!!!  Many organizations think they’re done with the budget once they’ve listed their expenses.  Even if you don’t have a penny at this time, indicate how you plan to raise the money (Benefit proceeds, Private Foundations, In-Kind Contributions, Admissions, etc.)  Quantify in-kind contributions (10 volunteers @ $12/hr x 3 hrs = $360).  Always explain a deficit in your past financial statements

· Weak and speculative language.  Avoid phrases like “we hope,” “we believe,” or “we feel.”  Substitute “we plan” or “we intend” or “we will.”  Never say you won’t be able to do the project unless you get the grant.  Never sound desperate or begging.  Never take the victim stance.  Sometimes you are asked to list possible challenges and state how you will address them.  State them in a positive way.  Don’t say “if no one comes…;” do say, “in case of rain, we will…” or “to ensure attendance, we will…” Stay positive.

· Assuming too much.  If you keep your prospective reader in mind, you will be able to circumvent 90% of your problems.  Don’t assume your reader knows anything about you or your field.  Even if the funder is familiar with your field, explain your niche in that field.  Put your organization in context.  Explain what you do that no one else does.  Don’t use acronyms or jargon from your sector (some exception for government proposals can be made here).  If you have a question about whether a particular point will be familiar to your readers, call and ask.  

9.  One of the foundation’s board members asked our board member to submit a proposal.  Isn’t that great?  Not necessarily.  Never bypass foundation personnel to get your proposal submitted.  You’ll be stepping on toes for sure.  Keep the program officer informed.  Copy the appropriate board members on your submission cover letter.  If one of your trustees runs into one of the foundation’s trustees at a social gathering and talks with him/her about your program, call the program officer the next day and mention the encounter.

10.  I’m really nervous about calling a foundation.  What am I supposed to say?  See the Dreaded Cold Call handout.  First of all, some foundations do not want you to call, so respect their wishes.  When you do call, the receptionist or an assistant may be very knowledgeable.  You do not always need to go straight to the top with your project, so treat these people politely.  If you have to leave a message and no one calls you back, don’t be discouraged.  You may be calling right before or after a deadline.  Keep trying and when you do get through, keep it brief.  Practice what you are going to say.  Be ready to sum up your organization and project in three to five sentences.  Do not press foundation staff for decisions or promises on the phone…and do not misinterpret enthusiasm for a guarantee.  Also, consider email.  This is a great way to reach busy people, and a nice way to say thanks for their assistance.

Reasons you might be calling:  confirmation that your proposal has arrived; confirmation of address; clarification of guidelines; determination of interest; you have two projects and don’t know which one would be most interesting to funder; follow-up on rejection, etc.  
GOOD LUCK!
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